THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT RIMMER,		CASE NO. 95,318
Appellant,		
VS.		L.T. 98-12089CF-10B
STATE OF FLORIDA,		
Appellee.		
	/	

Appeal from the Circuit Court, in and for Broward County, Florida; James I. Cohn, Circuit Court Judge

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GLASS & RASTATTER, P.A. 524 So. Andrews Avenue Suite 301N Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone: (954) 463-2965

Patrick C. Rastatter, Esq. Florida Bar #164634 Counsel for the Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Leslie Campbell, Esq. Assistant Attorney General on appeal

Honorable James I. Cohn Trial Judge, 17th Judicial Circuit

Kimberly Davis
Named victim in Indictment

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The parties are referred to as they stood in the trial court, the prosecution, State of Florida, and the defendant, Robert Rimmer. References to the record-on-appeal are by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. The supplemental record-on-appeal is designated by the symbol "SR" followed by the appropriate page number.

Your undersigned attorney appears as a specially appointed appellate public defender pursuant to this court's instructions for the appointment of conflict-free counsel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Robert Rimmer and codefendant Kevin Parker were charged jointly via indictment with first degree murder of Aaron Knight (Count I), first degree murder of Bradley Krause, Jr. (Count II), armed robbery of Aaron Knight (Count III), armed robbery of Bradley Krause, Jr., (Count IV), armed kidnaping of Aaron Knight (Count V), armed kidnaping of Bradley Krause, Jr. (Count VI), armed robbery of Joe Louis Moore (Count VII), armed kidnaping of Luis Rosario (Count IX), attempted armed robbery of Luis Rosario (Count X), and aggravated assault upon Kimberly Davis-Burke (Count XI). (R 2112-2115)

Prior to trial, defendant Rimmer was court ordered to stand in a live line-up pursuant to a prosecution request for same. (R 2103-2105) The state also filed notice of intent to seek the death penalty and habitualization upon conviction. (R 2124-2127)

Pretrial motions to suppress out-of-court identifications of defendant, to suppress physical evidence and to sever defendants were filed on behalf of Robert Rimmer. (R 2160-2180; 2235-2238;) After an evidentiary hearing, the motion to

suppress physical evidence was denied as was the motion to exclude pretrial identifications and to sever defendants. (R 2186-2187; 2193-2195)

Joint trial proceedings of defendant Rimmer and codefendant Parker resulted in verdicts of guilty as charged as to all counts and as to both accused. (R 2266-2277; 2283-2293) Defendant Rimmer's renewed motion to sever defendants in the penalty phase proceedings was granted and they were conducted accordingly. (R 1820-1997; 2298-2300)

The jury returned an advisory sentence of death pursuant to a vote of nine to three as to each of defendant's two murder convictions. (R 1991-1994; 2320) Codefendant, Kevin Parker, received a life recommendation which sentence was imposed by the trial court. (R 2343)

Thereafter, a *Spencer* hearing was conducted. (R 1999-2063) Following the submission of sentencing memorandums by the respective parties, Robert Rimmer was sentenced to death by execution for the murder of Aaron Knight and a like sentence for the murder of Bradley Krause, Jr. (R 2344-2351; 2383-2399)

As to his remaining convictions, defendant was sentenced to life imprisonment as a violent habitual offender on counts three through nine, thirty years on count ten and lastly, ten years on count eleven. (R 2344; 2352-2399)

Timely notice of appeal to this court followed. (R 2420) This brief is filed in

support thereof.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHYSICAL EVIDENCE HEARING:

In a written motion to suppress physical evidence, defendant sought to exclude a day planner/organizer and contents seized from Robert Rimmer's 1978 Oldsmobile motor vehicle. He also sought the exclusion of various electronic equipment which was seized from defendant's rental storage unit. The basis for suppression of the organizer was its absence from the list of items authorized to be seized from the Cutlass pursuant to a search warrant for the vehicle. Because a receipt in the organizer led to the existence of the storage unit and the subsequent seizure of its contents, exclusion of these electronic items was also sought. (R 2161-2163; 2235-2236)

The application and affidavit for the search warrant of the 1978 Oldsmobile sought the seizure of a number of items identified as follows: (1) fingerprints belonging to the suspect, (2) firearms used by the suspect, (3) shell casings and/or projectiles, ammunition used during commission of the crime, (4) trace/microscopic evidence of the crime, (5) blood and/or other bodily fluids belonging to the victims

or suspect, (6) materials transferred from the scene of the crime by the suspect, (7) duct tape used during commission of the crime, (8) various personal property belongings of Aaron Knight, Bradley Krause, Jr., Joe Moore taken during the commission of the crime, (9) cellular phone or parts thereof taken from the victim Joe Moore during commission of the crime, (10) a pair or part thereof of Kicker brand and Solo-Baric brand sound system taken during commission of the crime, and (11) motor vehicle stereo sound system parts, component parts and motor vehicle alarms, alarm systems and alarm component parts taken in the commission of the crime. (R 2165) It was acknowledged in the application that the vehicle sought to be searched was not the so called "get-a-way" vehicle used in the robbery/murders but rather was owned and operated by Robert Rimmer at the time of his apprehension. (R 2166) An inventory filed subsequent to execution of the warrant indicated the seizure of (1) an organizer with various papers, (2) a pair of blue jean shorts, (3) a .380 bullet, (4) two holsters and (5) a pair of black oxford shoes. (R 2168-2169)

In an application and affidavit thereafter filed for the issuance of a search warrant for the rental storage unit, the same affiant, detective Anthony Lewis, recited the prior seizure of documents from Robert Rimmer's Oldsmobile. (R 2170-2173) Among those papers was a rental agreement between defendant and Extra Space Storage Rentals for unit number ten along with a receipt for rent paid days after the

homicides. (R 2172) A warrant issued on this application yielded the sought after property which consisted primarily of electronic components taken during the subject robbery. (R2174 - 2175)

At the evidentiary hearing, Officer Kenneth Kelley testified that he participated in the vehicle chase which culminated in Robert Rimmer's arrest. (SR 67-72) During the police pursuit, a number of items were thrown from defendant's automobile and later recovered by law enforcement. (SR 71-72) Mr. Rimmer's Oldsmobile was towed from the arrest scene in Fort Lauderdale to the City of Wilton Manors Police Department because, according to Officer Kelley, it was "their" case. (SR 72-73)

Detective Anthony Lewis had sought and obtained an arrest warrant for Robert Rimmer which then caused defendant's arrest in Fort Lauderdale and the seizure of his Oldsmobile automobile. (SR 87-88) The detective thereafter filed for and received a search warrant for defendant's residence, his Ford Probe vehicle, and his Oldsmobile. (SR 89-90) Nothing of consequence was found at the home or in the Probe. (SR 89-90)

In a search of the Oldsmobile, the police seized personal papers of Robert Rimmer including a rental agreement between him and a self-storage unit. (SR 90-92) As a result of the seizure of this written lease, a search warrant was obtained for the storage facility which in turn yielded a substantial portion of the electronics stolen

from the Audio Logic store. (SR 92-93) Subsequent forensic processing of these items revealed Robert Rimmer's latent fingerprints. (SR 93-94)

At this suppression hearing, detective Lewis testified that he and Deputy John Howard conducted the actual search of the Oldsmobile and it was not he, but Howard, who located and took possession of a personal paper organizer found somewhere in the vehicle other than the glove compartment. (SR 97-98) Deputy Howard then turned over the organizer and its papers, which included the rental storage lease agreement, to detective Lewis. (SR 98; 102) The detective described the organizer as zippered, rather than strapped. (SR 92-92; 101-102) At trial, detective Lewis reversed himself to say it had a strap fastener rather than a zipper. (R 1190-1193)

A cursory search of the Oldsmobile at the time of defendant's arrest failed to yield anything of evidentiary value. (SR 98-101) The organizer itself was not listed on the subject search warrant as an item to be seized. (SR 102) At the time the detective obtained the search warrant he had no "probable" expectations as to what would be found within the Oldsmobile. (SR 102-103) The murder weapon and stolen firearm had previously been recovered by police and therefore detective Lewis didn't expect to find them within the organizer. (SR 104-105) Also already recovered was Joseph Moore's wallet and driver's license. (SR 97; 108)

This completed all the evidence at the suppression hearing. (SR 111) Ten days

later, the trial judge entered a written order denying defendant's motion to suppress physical evidence. (SR 2194-2195)

At a subsequent supplemental hearing on the issue of suppression of the lease agreement and contents of the self-storage unit, the state agreed that detective Anthony Lewis and Deputy John Howard had provided some conflicting testimony as to where and by whom the "organizer" was found within defendant's vehicle. (SR 2235-2236; R 3-7) According to detective Lewis' earlier testimony, the subject personal "organizer" was located by Deputy Howard from a part of the automobile other than the glove compartment. (SR 98) Deputy Howard, however, denied it was he who found the organizer but rather said it was detective Lewis who located the organizer in the vehicle's glove compartment. (R 8)

Because no one from law enforcement could testify as to the reason for the "organizer's" seizure and since it was not listed in the search warrant as an item to be seized, the defense again sought its exclusion from use as evidence. (R 8-10) The prosecution asserted that it was a question of weight, rather than admissibility. (R 10)

Upon consideration of this additional factual circumstance, the trial judge again denied the defendant's motion to suppress physical evidence. (R 11) This ruling remained the same when defendant renewed his suppression motion during trial. (R 510-513; 544; 1128-1129; 1187) At trial, detective Lewis changed his prior testimony

and stated it was he who seized the "organizer" from the glove compartment of defendant's Oldsmobile. (R 1190-1192)

MOTION TO SUPPRESS OUT-OF-COURT IDENTIFICATION HEARING:

In a pretrial motion to exclude out-of-court identifications by witness Kimberly Davis-Burke and Joe Louis Moore, defendant alleged that the identification process had been irreparably tainted by impermissibly suggestive procedures utilized by the investigating detective. (R 2176-2178) It was asserted that lead detective Anthony Lewis suggested that the proper selection in a photospread would be Robert Rimmer's image in position number three which in turn led to both witnesses picking out defendant in a subsequent live line-up following his arrest. (R 2177)

At the evidentiary hearing, Michael Dixon testified that he was a partner in the Audio Logic store where the murders took place. (SR 4-5) As a result of viewing a police sketch of the gunman sought by authorities, Mr. Dixon was able to provide biographical information of a customer which led to the name of Robert Rimmer. (SR 5-15) The witness then identified defendant Rimmer's photograph as a person who had patronized his mobile electronics business on several occasions in the months immediately preceding the homicides. (SR 8-15)

Joseph Louis Moore was at the Audio Logic store and was an eyewitness to the

murders. (SR 19-24) He described the gunman as a brown skinned black male, five feet ten inches tall, weighing one hundred fifty to one hundred sixty pounds and wearing baggy clothes and a baseball cap. (SR 21-22)

Days later, the witness was presented with a photospread by lead detective Anthony Lewis. (SR 25) Joseph Moore selected the image of Robert Rimmer. (SR 26) At a subsequent live line-up, the witness picked out the person of Robert Rimmer. (SR 26-27) These identifications came despite Joseph Moore's statement to police that the gunman had his cap pulled down low over his eyes. (SR 27-28)

Subsequent to the photospread, detective Lewis advised Mr. Moore that Robert Rimmer had been arrested and at the time was in possession of the witness' wallet. (SR 29-31) Detective Lewis also told him that his fellow eyewitness, girlfriend Kimberly Davis-Burke, had made the same photospread selection. (SR 31-33) Although Robert Rimmer was the only individual in the live line-up whose image appeared in the photospread, Joseph Moore stated his live line-up identification was not based on his prior photo line-up selection of the same person. (SR 35)

Kimberly Davis-Burke also witnessed the murders while at the Audio Logic store with her boyfriend, Joseph Moore. (SR 36-42) She described the gunman as a black male, five feet eight to five feet nine inches tall, wearing a baseball hat. (SR 37-38) At one point, the witness was right next to the perpetrator. (SR 38-39; 51-52)

Days later, Ms. Davis-Burke was shown a photospread by detective Lewis shortly after Joseph Moore was given the same opportunity. (SR 42-43) The witness selected two images as possibly being the gunman. (SR 42-44) One photo chosen was of Robert Rimmer which caused detective Lewis to advise her that, coincidently, that was the person her boyfriend, Joseph Moore, believed the gunman to be. (SR 44, 49-50) At a subsequent live line-up, Ms. Davis-Burke picked the person of Robert Rimmer who was the only person in the live line-up whose image was in the photospread. (SR 44-46)

In her photospread selection, the witness used a process of elimination which left the final two images. (SR 45-46) Ms. Davis-Burke settled on a final choice of Robert Rimmer only after detective Lewis told her about her boyfriend's preference. (SR 46-50)

The robbery-murders took place over a period of approximately ten minutes. (SR 50-51) Her first choice for the gunman was image number six who was not Robert Rimmer. (SR 53-54) Ms. David-Burke only changed her final selection as a result of information provided to her. (SR 54-55) In a post-photospread identification police statement, the witness said that she only expressed a second choice of Robert Rimmer "because after you [detective Lewis] told me that Joe [Moore] picked him, I paid more attention to it. I paid more attention to it and thought it sort of looked like

him. (SR 50; 95-96)

Louis Rosario, a third eye witness to the homicides, was also shown the subject photospread by detective Lewis but he was unable to recognize any of the images displayed. (SR 55-59) The same result took place at the live line-up days later. (SR 59-60) In court at the evidentiary suppression hearing, Mr. Rosario did not recognize Robert Rimmer as being the gunman in the Audio Logic store. (SR 60)

Deputy John McMahon compiled a sketch of the gunman after interviewing eyewitnesses Kimberly Davis-Burke and Joseph Moore. (SR 61-64) After drawing the suspect from information provided by Ms. Davis-Burke, the finished product was shown to Mr. Moore who agreed with it and made no changes. (SR 64-66) The sketch was more a product of the former than the latter. (SR 67)

Lead detective Anthony Lewis of Wilton Manors constructed the photospread containing Robert Rimmer's image which was subsequently displayed to witnesses Joseph Louis Moore, Kimberly Davis-Burke and Louis Rosario. (SR 75-77) The defendant's photo was in the number three position or right upper corner in the six photo spread. (SR 78)

When Joseph Moore was shown the photospread, he selected number three, the image of defendant Rimmer. (SR 78-80) Thereafter, the detective displayed the photo line-up to Kimberly Davis-Burke who chose image number six as the gunman in the

Audio Logic store. (SR 80-81; 95) Ms. Davis-Burke also selected image number three, Robert Rimmer, as the possible perpetrator which resulted in detective Lewis advising her that Joseph Moore had chosen photo number three. (SR 81-82) Thereafter, the detective advised both Kimberly Davis-Burke and Joseph Moore that each had selected image number three. (SR 96)

At the subsequent live line-up where Robert Rimmer appeared in the number four position, defendant was selected by both Joseph Moore and Kimberly Davis-Burke. (SR 84-86) Louis Rosario was unable to make any identification of those standing for the live line-up. (SR 86-87)

Robert Rimmer's physical characteristics were six feet one to six feet two inches tall and approximately one hundred ninety pounds in weight. (SR 105; 111) The defendant had lost some weight and was down to one hundred seventy five/one hundred eighty pounds at the time of the live line-up. (SR 105-106) Robert Rimmer did not wear eyeglasses at the time of his live line-up. (SR 106-107)

By way of a written order, defendant's motion to exclude the out-of-court identifications of Kimberly Davis-Burke and Joseph Louis Moore was denied. (R 2194) A renewed motion for suppression made during trial was likewise rejected. (R 1171-1175; 1211)

MOTION TO SEVER DEFENDANTS HEARING:

In a pretrial motion to sever his case from codefendant Kevin Parker, defendant set forth a post-arrest statement of Parker which made reference to his acquaintance with Robert Rimmer. (R 2179-2180) It was asserted by defendant that because his defense at trial would be one of identity, any reference to the pair knowing each other would be inadmissible and prejudicial hearsay. (R 2179) The trial judge refused to sever the defendants but thereafter excluded this particular statement from evidence during trial. (R 1242-1245)

TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

JURY SELECTION:

In questioning by the court, prospective juror David Vandeventer, initially stated he could not under any circumstances recommend the death penalty. (R 64) Mr. Vandeventer acknowledged that until recently, he had been an advocate of the death penalty. (R 107) Upon further inquiry, the prospective juror expressed at least a tentative ability to make a death recommendation and became equivocal in his inability to vote for an advisory death sentence. (R 107-109) Nevertheless, David Vandeventer was stricken for cause upon motion of the prosecution. (R 109-110)

Prospective juror Gwendolyn Sthilaire was the subject of the prosecution's first peremptory strike. (R 380) Because of her minority status, the defense challenged the state to provide a race neutral reason for the excusal. (R 380)

In response, the prosecutor stated that when he asked Ms. Sthilaire for her opinion regarding the death penalty, the prospective juror stated: "that's the mystery question". (R 380) The trial judge found that answer, as well as another, to be "sufficient, good faith, non-pretextual race neutral" reasons. (R 380) Ms. Sthilaire, however, never responded as the prosecutor indicated. Her answer of "that's the mystery question" came in response to the prosecutor's question as to her opinion of the "two or three causes of crime", not to any inquiry regarding the death penalty. (R 276) In the only question put to her regarding the ultimate penalty, the prospective juror indicated her ability to recommend such a punishment. (R 296)

In all other aspects, Gwendolyn Sthilaire was fully competent to serve as a juror, having previously been selected on a criminal case whose jury could not reach a unanimous verdict. (R275-276) Her expressed ability to be fair was unchallenged. (R 276)

GUILT PHASE:

Police dispatcher Maureen Reed authenticated the radio transmissions of a high speed vehicle chase which culminated in Robert Rimmer's arrest. (R 572-583) Mention was made of items being thrown from the automobile driven by defendant. (R 583-586) The date was May 10, 1998. (R 576-577)

David Akers was the initial police officer to arrive at the scene of a reported

shooting. (R 587-589) The time was 12:35 p.m. on May 2, 1998, and the location was the Audio Logic store at 1006 West Oakland Park Boulevard in Wilton Manors, Florida. (R 588-590) Upon entering the business, Officer Akers found Aaron Knight bound with duct tape and dead from a gunshot wound to the head. (R 592-594) A second individual, Bradley Krause, Jr. was similarly restrained and shot but was still alive. (R 592-594) The crime scene was secured and a B.O.L.O. (be on the lookout) was put out for a dark colored Ford Probe with one headlight stuck in the upright position and occupied by three black males. (R 595-599)

A shell casing was recovered in a pool of blood near one victim. (R 601) The Broward Sheriff's Office crime lab was called in for crime scene processing. (R 600)

Michael Dixon was a partner in the Audio Logic store with decedent Aaron Knight. (R 611-617) Bradley Krause, Jr., was a store employee. (R 614-618) Mr. Knight kept a Walther P.P.K. . 380 firearm on the premises in a desk drawer. (R 624-625) It was missing following the shootings. (R 628)

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