IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT RIMMER,

CASE NO. 95,318

Appellant,

L.T. 98-12089CF-10B

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

/

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON DIRECT APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA JAMES I. COHN, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

Tallahassee, Florida

DEBRA RESCIGNO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

Florida Bar No. 0836907 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard, Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

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

[appellant] go to prison, do you?

MRS. RIMMER: No, I don't.

(T 1380).

Appellant has failed to preserve his argument that the question and one word answer violate the "husband-wife privilege" (IB 75), for appellate review. Defense counsel's only objection below was that the testimony constituted a comment on appellant's right to remain silent, he never argued that the question violated the "husband-wife privilege." Consequently, that argument may not be raised for the first time on appeal, absent fundamental error. See Tillman v. State, 471 So. 2d 32,35 (Fla. 1985) ("In order to be preserved for further review by a higher court, an issue must be presented to the lower court and the specific legal argument or ground to be argued on appeal or review must be part of the presentation if it is to be considered preserved."); Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (same).

Fundamental error is not present here because the "husband-wife" privilege is inapplicable under the facts of this case. The State asked Mrs. Rimmer if she had ever asked her husband about the

double murder, it did not ask her to disclose the substance of any conversation. As such, the "husband-wife" privilege was not implicated. Further, a violation of the "husband-wife" privilege cannot be fundamental error because it is subject to the harmless error rule. See Koon v. State, 463 So.2d 201, 204 (Fla. 1985) (applying the harmless error rule to violation of the "husband-wife" privilege); Donaldson v. State, 369 So.2d 691, 694 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979) (applying harmless error rule).

Appellant's second argument, that the question was an impermissible comment upon his right to remain silent, is equally without merit. In <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 802 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 488 U.S. 871 (1988), our supreme court adopted a rule for determining whether a comment constitutes a comment on silence. The court said that if the comment is "fairly susceptible" of being interpreted by the jury as a comment on the defendant's exercise of his right to remain silent it will be treated as such. <u>See also State v. Kinchen</u>, 490 So.2d 21 (Fla.1985). A prosecution witness in <u>Jackson</u>, questioned about Jackson's demeanor during the time of his arrest and booking, replied: "His demeanor was he appeared very calm." <u>Id</u>. at The court held that the statement could not be construed as a comment on Jackson's right to remain silent.

Likewise here, the question asking Mrs. Rimmer whether she had ever asked her husband about the double murder and her one word answer-- "no"-- cannot be construed as a comment upon appellant's

right to remain silent. The focus of the question was on Mrs. Rimmer's actions, not appellant's. Mrs. Rimmer was not asked to disclose anything appellant may have said or not said about the double murder. Rather, she was asked only whether she had ever asked appellant about the double murder. As the prosecutor explained, he was trying to show the jury the type of relationship that Mrs. Rimmer, appellant's alibi witness, had with her husband (T 1379). The prosecutor had already established that Mrs. Rimmer either did not know or did not care to know about her husband's activities outside of her presence and this question further proved that.

Further, the question was proper as impeachment of Mrs. Rimmer's credibility. Every witness that takes the stand places his or her credibility at issue and is subject to being discredited by having bias, an interest in the outcome or an ulterior motive shown. See Section 90.608(1)(b), Florida Statutes (2000). Mrs. Rimmer provided her husband with an airtight alibi-- that he was fishing with their son that day and that she was driving the Ford Probe-- yet she never told the police or the State Attorney about those facts. Moreover, although she had joked with her husband about the police sketch resembling him, she never asked him once about the double murder. The jury was entitled to know this in evaluating Mrs. Rimmer's credibility.

The cases relied upon by appellant (IB 76-77) are inapposite

because they involve defendants who took the stand to testify and were then asked why they hadn't come forward earlier with their exculpatory version of events. In <u>Torrence</u>, the defendant took the stand and testified that he got the stolen property from Hershel Jones. On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked him, "all of these statements, all of your story about Hershel, did you ever tell anybody else your story about where Hershel got the jewelry and gave them to you?" <u>Id</u>. at 490. The defendant answered "no" and defense counsel immediately moved for a mistrial.

Similarly, in <u>King</u>, the defendant took the stand and explained that his fingerprints were found at the scene of the burglary because he had earlier delivered landfill to the house. On cross-examination, he was asked "who did you tell that story to knowing that it could possible absolve you from criminal charges?" <u>Id</u>. at 251-52. Finally, in <u>Weiss</u> the defendant/police officer was asked on cross-examination why he hadn't told his exculpatory version of events to the Internal Affairs Division during its investigation of his aggravated battery charge.

Conversely, here, it was not Appellant who was being asked the question but his wife. Finally, even if error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt for the reasons asserted under Point IV.

See <u>DiGuilio</u> 491 So. 2d at 1135 (comments on defendant's silence are subject to the harmless analysis).

POINTS VI & VIII

THE PROSECUTOR'S VARIOUS COMMENTS DID NOT DEPRIVE APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL AND FAIR SENTENCING HEARING. (Restated).

Appellant complains that the prosecutor made several improper comments throughout the trial and penalty phase, the cumulative effect of which deprived him of a fair trial and fair sentencing hearing. The State submits that the comments in question are procedurally barred because they were not preserved for appellate review, are not improper, or if improper, do not constitute fundamental error.

Appellant failed to preserve all but one of the allegedly improper comments for appellate review. The proper procedure to preserve review of an allegedly improper comment is to object, request a curative instruction, and/or move for a mistrial. Kearse v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S507, --- So.2d ----, 2000 WL 854156 (Fla. June 29, 2000); Spencer v. State, 645 So. 2d 377, 383 (Fla. 1994); cert. denied, -- U.S. --, 118 S. Ct. 213 (1997); Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, -- U.S. --, 113 S. Ct. 1857 (1993).

Here, Appellant failed to object to the allegedly improper comments made during opening statements (in both the guilt and penalty phase) and did not move for a mistrial (T 520, 544, IB 79, T 1842, 1845, IB 87-88). As such, he failed to preserve those alleged errors for appellate review. Further, of the twelve (12) improper comments appellant claims were made during closing

argument in the guilt phase, he objected to only one; however, he did not move for a mistrial on that claim either (T 1495). Appellant did not object to any of the eight (8) comments he alleges were improper during closing argument in the penalty phase (IB 87-88). Having failed to object and move for a mistrial, appellant likewise failed to preserve these alleged errors for appellate review.

This Court has long held that absent a showing of fundamental error, the failure to object to an alleged improper comment bars review. See Brooks v. State, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S417 (May 25, 2000); McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999); Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1994); Street v. State, 636 So.2d 1297 (Fla. Waterhouse v. State, 596 1994); So.2d 1008 (Fla. "Fundamental error has been defined as the type of error which 'reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" <u>Delgado v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S79 (Fla. 2000) (quoting <u>Urbin v. State</u>, 714 So.2d 411, 418 n. 8 (Fla.1998)). <u>See also Crump v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 963, 972 (Fla.1993) (holding that since prosecutorial comments did not constitute fundamental error, absence of preservation of issue by defense counsel precluded appellate review); Pacifico v. State, 642 So.2d 1178, 1182 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

Even where a challenged comment is the subject of a

contemporaneous objection, this Court has repeatedly recognized that wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. Breedlove v. <u>State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982); <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1975). Logical inferences may be drawn, and prosecutors are allowed to advance all legitimate arguments within the limits of their forensic talents in order to effectuate their enforcement of the criminal laws. Spencer v. State, 133 So.2d 729 (Fla. 1961), <u>cert. denied</u>, 369 U.S. 880, 82 S.Ct. 1155, 8 L.Ed.2d 283 (1962). The control of comments is within the trial court's discretion, and an appellate court will not interfere unless an abuse of such Thomas; Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855 discretion is shown. (Fla. 1969), modified, 408 U.S. 935, 92 S.Ct. 2857, 33 L.Ed.2d 751 (1972). Each case must be considered on its own merits, however, and within the circumstances surrounding the complained of remarks. Id.

THE UNPRESERVED "DO THE RIGHT THING" COMMENTS

These unpreserved comments do not constitute fundamental error. The first such comment was made during the prosecutor's opening statement (guilt phase). After giving the jury a brief overview of the facts of the case, the prosecutor told them:

I want you now to sit back and make yourselves comfortable because I'm going to take you through all of the evidence, the testimony that you will hear so that at the end of the case, when I come back before you, I will ask you to do the right thing, based upon the testimony and the evidence you have heard, and return a verdict of guilty on all counts of

the indictment.

(T 520). The comment was not improper and cannot constitute fundamental error. Read in context, the prosecutor did not actually ask the jury to "do the right thing" but rather, explained that after it had heard the testimony he would come back before the jury and ask it to do the right thing based upon the testimony and evidence it had heard. That is what happened during closing argument (guilt phase), the prosecutor stating at the end:

I have been talking for a while now. I have been discussing the evidence and the testimony and the exhibits with you. I anticipate I will get a chance to speak to you again.

But if I don't, I'll ask you now to do the right thing, based upon the testimony and the evidence that you have before you. Now that the State has proven the truth of the charges, I ask you to return a verdict that speaks the truth and find both defendants, Defendant Rimmed and Defendant parker, guilty as charged on all counts of the indictment.

(T 1501). This comment also was not improper because the prosecutor was simply asking the jury "to do the right thing, based upon the testimony and the evidence that you have before you." (T 1501). The prosecutor had explained to the jury that its recollection of the evidence governed, so he was asking the jury to "do the right thing" based on its recollection of the evidence.

Appealing to the jury to "do the right thing" is not clearly erroneous when it is coupled with reference to the record. <u>See U.S. v. Barnett</u>, 159 F.3d 637 (C.A.D.C. 1998); <u>Adams v. U.S.</u>, 222

F.2d 45, 46 n. 1 (D.C.Cir.1955). Here, all the statements asked the jury to "do the right thing" based upon the evidence and testimony before it. As such, they were not improper appeals and cannot constitute fundamental error.

The same is true for the remainder of these comments. During the rebuttal portion of his closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury, in response to defense counsel's assertion that Appellant was not the shooter and that there was reasonable doubt based upon discrepancies in the witnesses' testimony, that he was "confident that [they would] follow [their] oath and [] do the right thing in this case, based upon the testimony and the exhibits that are in evidence. (T 1532). Again, this was merely an assertion that the jury would do the right thing based upon the evidence in this case. This was also "fair reply" to defense counsel's contention that there was plenty of reasonable doubt as to whether appellant was the shooter. See Hazelwood v. State, 658 So.2d 1241, 1243 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (it is "universal that counsel is accorded a wide latitude in making arguments to the jury particularly in retaliation to prior comments made by opposing counsel.").

At the end of rebuttal, the prosecutor asked the jurors to keep the entire case in context and used baseball as an analogy:

[A]fter [Hank Aaron] broke [the home run record], he was interviewed by a reporter and asked how he was able to hit all those home runs. And Hank Aaron said he was able to do that by keeping his eye on the ball. What I would ask you to do is to keep this entire

case in context. With all of the testimony that you have heard and all of the exhibits that are in evidence and all of the physical evidence that is available to you, and don't be swayed or go after a slider. Don't go after an outside fast ball. Don't go after an inside knuckle ball. Stay focused to do your duty, to do the right thing in this case.

(T 1545). It is proper for the prosecutor to ask the jury to stay focused on the facts and not be swayed by sympathy. See Lukehart v. State, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S489 (Fla. June 22, 2000) (prosecutor may argue that jury not be swayed by sympathy). Further, this comment was also "fair reply" to defense counsel's assertion that there was reasonable doubt in this case.

The unpreserved comments made during the penalty phase were also not improper and cannot constitute fundamental error. The first unpreserved comment was made at the conclusion of the prosecutor's opening argument (penalty phase) where, after explaining to the jury that it was there to determine Appellant's punishment and what aggravators and mitigators would be shown, the prosecutor stated that "the proper, moral recommendation and legal recommendation for defendant Rimmed is death." (T 1845). Appellant mischaracterizes this statement as one telling the jury to "do its job" and return the "morally" correct death sentence (IB 88). Read in context, the statement was not improper.

Similarly, at the end of the prosecutor's closing argument (penalty phase), the prosecutor, after talking about all of the aggravators that were proved and the mitigators that were not,

asked it "to do [its] job, based upon the oath that [it] took, based upon the law the Judge Cohn is going to give you." (T 1961). Exactly like the comments discussed above, the request to "do its job" was premised upon the law that the judge would give to the jury.

U.S. v. Young, 105 S.Ct. 1038 (1985), relied upon by Appellant, supports the State's position that no fundamental error occurred here. In that case, defense counsel impugned the prosecutor's integrity and charged that the prosecutor did not believe in the Government's case during his closing argument. On rebuttal, the prosecutor stated his opinion that the defendant was guilty and urged the jury to "do its job"; defense counsel made no objection. The Court held that the prosecutor's remarks, although error, did not constitute "plain error" under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 52(b), because it did not undermine the fundamental fairness of the trial or amount to a miscarriage of justice. The Court noted that, when addressing plain error, the claimed error must be viewed against the entire record.

<u>U.S. v. Johnson</u>, 968 F.2d 768 (8th Cir. 1992), the other case relied upon by appellant, is distinguishable for several reasons. First, it did not involve a "do the right thing" comment. Instead, the prosecutor in <u>Johnson</u> told the jurors that they were "the people that stand as a bulwark against the continuation of what [the defendant] is doing on the street, putting this poison on the

street." Id. at 769. Second, unlike this case, defense counsel in <u>Johnson</u> objected to the comment and moved for a mistrial. The Eighth Circuit held that the comment was reversible because it was an inflammatory appeal to the jurors to be the conscience of the community and there was only marginal evidence of guilt.

THE "EXECUTION" OR "EXECUTED" COMMENTS

The alleged improper use of the word "executed" was also unpreserved. The prosecutor began his closing argument (guilt phase) by showing the jury pictures of victims while they were alive and pictures of them dead:

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